CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY PARAMEDIC EDUCATION STANDARDS

June 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| EXECUTIVE SUMMARY4 |
|---|
| INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY OF COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE IN CALIFORNIA 5 |
| ABOUT THE CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE (CCP) EDUCATION STANDARDS 6 |
| INFLUENCES ON THE CCP EDUCATION STANDARDS6 |
| CORE COMPETENCIES6 |
| DIFFERENCES BETWEEN EDUCATION STANDARDS AND CURRICULA |
| WHAT'S NOT ADDRESSED BY THE CCP EDUCATION STANDARDS |
| EDUCATION STANDARDS INFRASTRUCTURE8 |
| Health Equity Lens |
| Instructor Qualifications |
| Pedagogy |
| Education Program Hours Versus Competency8 |
| Clinical Education 9 |
| CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE EDUCATION STANDARDS 10 |
| STANDARD I: FOUNDATIONS OF COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE |
| STANDARD II: CULTURAL HUMILITY, EQUITY, AND SOCIAL JUSTICE WITHIN HEALTHCARE11 |
| STANDARD III: INTERDISCIPLINARY COLLABORATION AND SYSTEMS OF CARE NAVIGATION 12 |
| STANDARD IV: CLIENT-CENTERED CARE |
| STANDARD V: COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC HEALTH14 |
| GLOSSARY |
| REFERENCES |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS |

| EDUCATION RESOURCES 1 | В |
|---|---|
| RESOURCES MODULE I: FOUNDATIONS OF COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE | 8 |
| RESOURCES MODULE II: CULTURAL HUMILITY, EQUITY, AND SOCIAL JUSTICE WITHIN HEALTHCARE2 | 1 |
| RESOURCES MODULE III: INTERDISCIPLINARY COLLABORATION AND SYSTEMS OF CARE NAVIGATION2 | 5 |
| RESOURCES MODULE IV: CLIENT-CENTERED CARE | 2 |
| RESOURCES MODULE V: COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC HEALTH | 7 |

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The *California Community Paramedic Education Standards* outline the minimum competencies for a new generation of community paramedics in California. These *Education Standards* have been designed to provide a baseline of knowledge and abilities to allow safe, effective practice while allowing for local development of curriculum and implementation based on the need of the agency or region in which community paramedics are deployed.

This document provides guidance to educators in developing effective and relevant curricula, as well as to local EMS Agencies (LEMSAs) responsible for reviewing and approving local educational programs.

The *Education Standards* are broken into five specific areas of focus. Within each standard are topic areas that must be covered in a comprehensive manner. While the community paramedic scope of practice is not different from the basic field paramedic, several topics will be new – and at times, challenging – for providers to acquire and understand as they transition to their new roles.

References for the standards are provided where possible. Additional resources are provided for educators to help develop meaningful and effective curricula in training the first generation of community paramedics in California. As it was with the dawn of modern EMS in the 1970s, community paramedic development will rely on interdisciplinary educators and subject matter experts to form the foundation of education needed for effective practice.

Finally, it is essential to note that emergency medical services continue to be, at its core, part of the safety net for health care to the California's most vulnerable populations. This document was developed when issues of diversity, equity and inclusion surfaced to the forefront of American society. It is critical that community paramedics recognize and understand how their professional practice is affected by their own bias and be motivated to help their future clients overcome intrinsic health care barriers and enjoy better physical and mental health.

The CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY PARAMEDIC EDUCATION STANDARDS was developed according to the provisions of Division 2.5, Chapter 13, Section 1830(a)of the Health and Safety code (AB 1544) and fulfills the requirement for minimum standards and curriculum for the development of community paramedic programs and program specialties. This document was drafted and reviewed by the advisory committee formed pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 1825.

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY OF COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE IN CALIFORNIA

The term "community paramedic" was first used in the United States in 2001 as a potential model of improving rural health care. By 2017 there were 129 community paramedicine programs in 34 states and the District of Columbia. Other states had been studying the feasibility of community paramedics through pilot projects. The California EMS Authority submitted its application to evaluate community paramedicine to the California Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development (OSHPD) in 2013. The pilot was approved in 2014, paving the way for twenty projects in 14 communities to operate and collect data about their effectiveness. The pilot projects evaluated seven different concepts for the practice of community paramedicine.

- Post-Discharge Short-Term Follow-Up: Provide short-term, home-based follow-up care to people
 recently discharged from a hospital due to a chronic condition (e.g., heart failure) to reduce their risk of
 readmission and improve their ability to manage their condition.
- Frequent EMS User: Provide case management services to people who are frequent 911 callers and frequent visitors to EDs to identify needs that could be met more effectively outside of an ED, and assist patients in accessing primary care, mental health services, substance use disorder services and other services.
- 3. **Directly Observed Therapy for Tuberculosis:** In collaboration with a public health agency, provide directly observed therapy (DOT) to people with tuberculosis (i.e., dispense medications and observe patients taking them) to ensure effective treatment of tuberculosis and prevent its spread.
- 4. **Hospice:** In response to 911 calls made by or on behalf of hospice patients, collaborate with hospice agency nurses, patients and family members to treat patients in their homes according to their wishes instead of transporting them to an ED.
- 5. **Alternate Destination Mental Health:** In response to 911 calls, offer people who have mental health needs but no acute medical needs transport directly to a mental health crisis center instead of to an ED with subsequent transfer to a mental health facility.
- 6. **Alternate Destination Urgent Care:** In response to 911 calls, offer people with low-acuity medical conditions transport to an urgent care center for evaluation by a physician instead of to an ED.
- 7. **Alternate Destination Sobering Center:** In response to 911 calls, offer people who are acutely intoxicated but do not have acute medical or mental health needs transport directly to a sobering center for monitoring instead of to an ED.

78 paramedics received education and training for their expanded roles through a pilot education program developed by the University of California Los Angeles Center for Prehospital Care. An analysis of the pilot projects was conducted by the University of California San Francisco concluded that Californians benefited from a workforce that was already in the community, was cost effective in providing novel forms of care, and did not displace any other health care providers in the process. There were no adverse effects to patients with any of the projects.

In 2020, Assembly Bill 1544 was signed into law by the California Governor, authorizing local EMS agencies to develop community paramedicine programs in accordance with regulations to be developed by the EMS Authority. Those regulations are expected to be in effect by the end of 2022.

ABOUT THE CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE (CCP) EDUCATION STANDARDS

Given the wide-ranging scope of the CP Pilot Programs, it can be safely assumed that future CP programs will remain quite varied. This makes a statewide "one size fits all" approach to a CP educational program – i.e., a curriculum – limited in its effectiveness. The purpose of the *Education Standards* is to provide a framework for acquiring knowledge and abilities for the CP to be able to function effectively in an expanded practice environment. The CCPES will allow for diverse implementation methods to meet local needs.

INFLUENCES ON THE CCP EDUCATION STANDARDS

The field of community paramedicine is young and rapidly evolving. National level documents such as the *EMS Agenda 2050* and the *Revised National EMS Education Standards* point to the expanding role of community paramedics within the health care system. The National EMS Scope of Practice Model identifies the role of community paramedics in nontraditional practice areas. An Institute of Medicine report points to the role of EMS in rural public health. These reports form the underlying framework for the community paramedics of today and in the future.

The Revised Education Standards significantly expanded the depth and breadth of knowledge for paramedics in public health, behavioral health, and chronic disease management in anticipation of their evolving role and integration into the national health care system. Already licensed paramedics may have acquired knowledge about these topic areas through experience and continuing education.

The role and function of the CP is closely aligned with those of the community health worker (CHW), especially around assessment, client-centered practices and interacting with at-risk populations. As a result, this first generation of education standards has its roots in CHW education.

Other states such as Texas and Colorado have pioneered community paramedicine in their local healthcare systems and have developed education programs that prepare their EMS practitioners for their role as CPs. The CCP-ES draws upon their experience in training CPs.

The original UCLA community paramedic education pilot program also provided a basis for developing these education standards. The pilot program trained over 70 community paramedics to function in the CP pilot programs.

As community paramedicine continues to evolve, there may be a time when formal certification becomes a reality. At the time of these education standards, the International Board of Specialty Certifications (IBSC) hosts an evaluation process to certify community paramedics. While it is not clear if a national certification process will become reality, many of the IBSC domains of learning for community paramedic were incorporated into the CCP-ES.

CORE COMPETENCIES

The California Community Paramedic Education Standards provides a core framework of knowledge and abilities that each community paramedic should acquire before practicing in their new environment. There are five standards:

- Standard I: Foundations of Community Paramedicine encompasses the foundational knowledge on which the other education standards rest.
- Standard II: Cultural Humility, Equity and Social Justice within Healthcare provides the community
 paramedic the tools and perspectives necessary to sustain a successful practice within disadvantaged
 populations and communities.

- Standard III: Interdisciplinary Collaboration and Systems of Care Navigation prepares the CP to successfully integrate their role within an interdisciplinary care team and to navigate often complex systems of care.
- Standard IV: Client-centered Care provides the knowledge and tools needed by the CP to meet the client where they are and respect the environment in which they operate.
- Standard V: Community and Public Health prepares the CP to work collaboratively and effectively within the community and public health infrastructure.

Within each education standard are topic areas that are to be covered in an approved curriculum. How each topic is covered is the purview of the local educator tasked with developing a curriculum.

The California Community Paramedic Education Standards describes the behavioral competencies associated with the function of the community paramedic. The work that the CP performs is decidedly client-centered, as compared to provider-centered care that a basic paramedic provides during an emergency call. The CP also works within an interdisciplinary team of providers, which might include not only nurses and physicians, but also case managers, physical therapists, palliative care specialists mental/behavioral health providers, Adult Protective Services, payors, other social service providers.

Most importantly, the CP will serve the state's most vulnerable populations in helping to manage their care. The CP must embody a foundational understanding of the principles of health equity, cultural humility, client advocacy and social justice to render services in an effective and meaningful way.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN EDUCATION STANDARDS AND CURRICULA

Education standards describe the topic areas to be covered in a discipline, which enable the provider to perform the tasks in a competent manner. A curriculum prescribes how the information is to be disseminated, and how learning is assessed. Curricula contains the student learning outcomes, learning objectives, lesson plans and evaluation tools that the educator needs to teach the education standards.

This document explicitly avoids the limitations of incorporating a curriculum into state regulations. Doing so would potentially limit the fast-moving evolution of the discipline. As well, a "one size fits all" prescriptive curriculum would run the risk of not adequately covering the goals of a specific program that is not yet realized.

The lack of specific curricula may initially be frustrating to those seeking a simple solution. However, the education standards allow for the flexibility needed to ensure the right depth and breadth of information is provided to the CP so that they can practice effectively within that program. For example, the CP who is responsible for monitoring the weight and dietary intake of post-discharge congestive heart failure patients may need a simple breadth and depth understanding of behavioral health concerns that their patients may experience. Conversely, the CP who is working within an interdisciplinary team to manage a homeless population with multiple mental health diagnoses would require a more in-depth curriculum to perform a diagnostic mental health exam.

WHAT'S NOT ADDRESSED BY THE CCP EDUCATION STANDARDS

This document does not address certain issues that may be associated with community paramedicine. These include:

- Minimum entry requirements for community paramedics
- CP certification and accreditation requirements
- Continuing education requirements
- Required knowledge and skills specific to a local CP program

EDUCATION STANDARDS INFRASTRUCTURE

The Community Paramedic Education Standards are structured in the same way as the 2021 National EMS Education Standards, with modifications based on the roles and scope of practice of the community paramedic. Each section identifies a core competency, minimum content, supporting educational infrastructure necessary to achieve competency, and the elements of clinical education that undergird teaching and learning of community paramedics. The principles of health equity and social justice are threaded throughout the standards.

Health Equity Lens

The foundations of the community paramedic practice are health equity and social justice. The community paramedic recognizes that access to high quality healthcare and opportunities to achieve positive health outcomes are not equally distributed in society. Disparities in health outcomes based on race, age, language access, ability status, economic status, social class, region, mental health and sexual orientation, impact individuals and communities and have a detrimental effect on societal and economic prosperity. The community paramedic strives to achieve health equity through client-centered care (Standard IV) and community advocacy (Standard V). Community paramedics infuse cultural humility, the lifelong, self-reflective praxis of listening to clients and communities across cultural differences and involves the patient in care decisions (Standard II). Using a cultural humility framework also allows the community paramedic to consider implicit biases that may intrude into the assessment and management of clients and communities in the development of recommendations, education or care plans (Standard III).

Instructor Qualifications

Community paramedic educators must be from multiple disciplines because of the interdisciplinary nature of the practice. Instructors in a community paramedic program should be sufficiently trained through education and experience in evidence-based teaching methodologies and equity pedagogy as described in the next section. Subject matter experts from public and community health are essential instructors in approved programs as indicated in each of the five education standards.

Pedagogy

Much like the practice of the community paramedic is founded in equity, the educational methodology of the community paramedic program is founded in equity pedagogy. This takes into account learning differences among the students who are studying to become a community paramedic and empowers them to be advocates of clients and agents of social change. Equity pedagogy involves the use of cooperative learning groups, problem based/case based/simulation-based learning activities, and guided activities that promote self-regulated learning and long-term retention. Evidence-based education practices such as distributed (spaced) learning, interleaving, and retrieval practice should be employed in both assignments and evaluations of student learning. Students must also be able to evaluate and use available evidence and theory in their practice (praxis). Competency evaluations focus on the assessment of social and clinical reasoning skills as indicated in each one of the five community paramedic education standards.

Education Program Hours Versus Competency

While defining the length of a community paramedicine education program in hours may appear to be straightforward, deciding what those hours should be is much more complex. The number of participants, the number of assignments outside the classroom, and the access to specialist educators and clinical resources all play a factor in determining the number of hours needed to conduct a course. Educators look for achieving competency with the learning objectives and student learning outcomes, which are in turn informed by the education standards.

The UCLA community paramedicine education pilot required participants to complete approximately 150 hours to accomplish competency in the core program. Several pilot sites added additional hours specific to their program. This included pre-course assignments and homework. An analysis of a post class survey indicated that most participants thought that more time was needed. A review of community paramedic programs across the nation indicated a range of 120 - 250 hours or more.

A community paramedic core education program should be at least 150 hours in length. These hours can – and should be a combination of classroom hours, out of classroom assignments, standardized patient experiences, clinical experiences, and internship.

Clinical Education

The clinical education of the community paramedic is the capstone experience during which the student applies praxis in a medical social environment. This provides the opportunity for the student to put into action the shift from a medical model in the traditional role of a paramedic to the medical-social model of the community paramedic using a client-centered approach. The program will allow sufficient time and experience for the student to demonstrate basic competencies in client-centered assessment and management, community needs assessment, development of care plans and advocacy, using tools that reflect cultural humility and center around social justice.

CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE EDUCATION STANDARDS

STANDARD I: FOUNDATIONS OF COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE

| Foundations of Community Paramedicine | | |
|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| Education Standard | The roles and responsibilities of the community paramedic are informed by a foundational knowledge of provision of healthcare in the United States, and the impact of social determinants of health upon client care. | |
| Elaboration of Knowledge | Overview of the US and California healthcare systems and reimbursement Overview of Public Health Overview of community health Effect of the Affordable Care Act on development of community paramedicine nationally and in California Roles of the community paramedic Community paramedic scope of practice Legal and ethical issues in client- and community-centered care Chronic disease management Subacute disease management Personal safety and wellness IBSC certification Research in evidence-based practice | |
| Clinical Behaviors and Judgments | Understand relationship of the system of care as a CP within public health Advocate for client and the health care team through equity lens Maintain a healthy workplace stressor balance | |
| Education Infrastructure | Public Health educator(s), epidemiologist(s), subject matter expert(s), community paramedic (experienced) Instructional support material, evidence-based references | |

STANDARD II: CULTURAL HUMILITY, EQUITY, AND SOCIAL JUSTICE WITHIN HEALTHCARE

| | Cultural Humility, Equity, and Social Justice within Healthcare |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| Education Standard | The community paramedic utilizes cultural humility, equity, and social justice as the foundation of client- and community-centered care. |
| Elaboration of Knowledge | Social determinants of health Biomedical ethics History of discrimination in healthcare in the US Equity versus equality Implicit bias Disparities in healthcare access and health outcomes by age, race, gender, ethnicity, language, ability status, socioeconomic status, mental health, and community Cultural humility as a framework for public health and community paramedic practice Roles of the culturally effective community paramedic Trauma informed care |
| Clinical Behaviors and Judgments | Critical self-reflection and self-critique to examine biases toward clients and/or communities Application of evidence-based tools and models for practicing cultural humility in client-centered care Connect with culturally diverse/aware community partners Application of culturally effective community paramedic as community advocate Access qualified interpreter services for language access and communication with clients and the community |
| Education Infrastructure | Public Health educator with training and/or experience on equity, diversity and inclusion, EMS community paramedic educator, experienced community paramedic Learning activities that promote self-reflection practices and mindset |

STANDARD III: INTERDISCIPLINARY COLLABORATION AND SYSTEMS OF CARE NAVIGATION

| Interdisciplinary Collaboration and Systems of Care Navigation | | |
|--|---|--|
| Education Standard | The community paramedic cooperatively works within community systems of care to advocate for clients and/or participate in interdisciplinary efforts to ensure coordinated, client-centered care. | |
| Elaboration of Knowledge | Healthcare coordination Systems of care navigation Outreach and advocacy for target and at-risk populations Client referral Documentation across disciplines Overview of: Nutrition Palliative care Hospice care End of Life care Home health vs. home care Mental health care | |
| Clinical Behaviors and Judgments | Collegial communications with interdisciplinary team members Appreciative inquiry with care team partners Interdependent relationships with team members Recognizing strengths and limitations of a community paramedic within a care team Appropriate referrals and system navigation | |
| Education Infrastructure | Appropriate interdisciplinary instructors. Examples include care coordinator, discharge team coordinator, hospitalist, pulmonologist, endocrinologist, nurse practitioner, community paramedic, hospice coordinator, emergency department care manager/social worker, or outreach coordinator Teaching methods include presentations by appropriate representatives, field trips, review of client care records, assigned readings | |

STANDARD IV: CLIENT-CENTERED CARE

| Client Centered Care | | |
|----------------------------------|---|--|
| Education Standard | The community paramedic assesses, formulates, and revises a client-centered health management plan. | |
| Elaboration of Knowledge | Client approach and the biopsychosocial assessment Motivational interviewing Interventional techniques Crisis intervention Client assessment, referral, and education Creating a care plan Implementing a care plan Resources for client case management Service coordination and client counseling Documentation and follow up Embedding cultural humility practices in client case management | |
| Clinical Behaviors and Judgments | Core proficiency in health assessment, referral, health education, service coordination, and client-centered counseling Creates resource map and examines web of resources Creates outreach strategies to connect client/community to resources | |
| Education Infrastructure | Community paramedic educator, program medical director or related physician resource Resources specific to program mission, such as social services, behavioral health experts, case managers | |

STANDARD V: COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC HEALTH

| Community and Public Health | | | |
|----------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Education Standard | The community paramedic actively participates in protecting the health of the community through public health activities such as planning, response, and monitoring. | | |
| Elaboration of Knowledge | Population based care Health equity across populations Epidemiology Public Health mission Community health/needs assessment Public health disaster response Prevention Isolation and quarantine Public education Interagency communications | | |
| Clinical Behaviors and Judgments | Engages in public health planning and implementation Develops resources that aid in public health responses Coordinates and implements mass events | | |
| Education Infrastructure | Appropriate interdisciplinary instructors. Examples include representatives of appropriate public health agencies, public health educators, minority-serving clinics, epidemiologists. Teaching methods include presentations, desktop exercises, ride-alongs, task training | | |

GLOSSARY

Accreditation – granting approval by an official nongovernmental review board. Review is collegial and based on self and peer assessment.

Certification – issuing of a certificate by a private agency based upon competency standards adopted by that agency and met by the individual

Competency – expected behavior/knowledge to be achieved within defined practice.

Core Competency- set of intellectual, personal, social, and emotional proficiencies needed to engage in deep lifelong learning.

Cultural Humility- lifelong process of self-reflection and self-critique whereby the individual not only learns about another's culture, but one starts with an examination of her/his own beliefs and cultural identities.

Curriculum – a course of study in a specialized field traditionally including detailed lesson plans.

EMS Agenda 2050- NHTSA document describes vision for evidence-based, data driven EMS that is integrated with the nation's healthcare system.

Equality – sameness; everyone is provided with the same resources, support, etc.

Equity – fairness and justice in opportunity and access; everyone is provided what is needed to succeed/achieve goal; recognizes that people do not start from the same place in society.

Equity pedagogy- multicultural education in the classroom thereby equipping students with skills which help them be facilitators for social change, i.e. healthcare.

National EMS Scope of Practice Model – defines the scope of practice of the various levels of EMS licensure.

OSHPD - office of Statewide Health Planning and Development. OSHPD improves access to quality healthcare for Californians. We ensure hospital buildings are safe, offer financial assistance to individuals and healthcare institutions, and collect and publish healthcare data.

Pedagogy - method and practice of teaching. Art, science, or profession of teaching.

Praxis - a form of critical thinking. Comprises the combination of reflection and action.

Revised National EMS Education Standards – NHTSA document that defines the education standards for each EMS licensure level.

Social Justice – goodness guiding the development of institutions that are social in nature and provide access to beneficial services from the standpoint of health and wellness.

REFERENCES

White R, Wingrove G. Principles for community paramedicine programs. National Rural Health Association Policy Brief 2012;8(3):1–18

Mobile Integrated Healthcare and Community Paramedicine (MIH-CP): 2nd National Survey. National Association of Emergency Medical Technicians. 2018.

National Association of State EMS Officials. State by State Community Paramedicine – Mobile Integrated Healthcare (CP-MIH) Status Board. Retrieved 15 May 2021.

Coffman JM and Blash L. Update of Evaluation of California's Community Paramedicine Pilot Program. Healthforce Center and Philip R. Lee Institute for Health Policy Studies at UC San Francisco, 2021.

EMS Agenda 2050 Technical Expert Panel. (2019). EMS Agenda 2050: A People-Centered Vision for the Future of Emergency Medical Services (Report No. DOT HS 812 664). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.

Institute of Medicine (2007). Emergency Medical Services: At the Crossroads. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/11629.

National Association of State EMS Officials (2019). National EMS Scope of Practice Model 2019 (Report No. DOT HS 812-666). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.

National Association of EMS Educators (2021). Revised National EMS Education Standards (Report No. DOT HS number to be released summer 2021). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.

E.L. Rosenthal; P. Menking; and J. St. John. The Community Health Worker Core Consensus (C3) Project: A Report of the C3 Project Phase 1 and 2, Together Leaning Toward the Sky A National Project to Inform CHW Policy and Practice Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center El Paso, 2018

Internal Board of Specialty Certification (2020). Certified Community Paramedic Candidate Handbook. Retrieved 22 May 2021 https://www.ibscertifications.org/resource/pdf/IBSC-CP-C%20Candidate%20Handbook.pdf

Myers LA et al. Development and Implementation of a Community Paramedicine Program in Rural United States. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine 2020;21(5)1227-1233.

World Health Organization. Health Systems: Equity. retrieved May 30, 2021.

Ackerman-Barger, K., Acosta, D., Bakerjian, D., Murray-García, J., & Ton, H. (2017). Equity Pedagogy: Applying Multicultural Education in Health Professions Learning Environments. *The Health Professions Educator: A Practical Guide for New and Established Faculty*, 223.

Sharma, M., Pinto, A. D., & Kumagai, A. K. (2018). Teaching the social determinants of health: a path to equity or a road to nowhere? *Academic medicine*, *93*(1), 25-30.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Authors of this document wish to acknowledge the support provided by the following institutions;

The CARESTAR Foundation

Tanir Ami, Chief Executive Officer Berkeley, California

The California EMS Authority

Dave Duncan, MD, Director Rancho Cordova, California

The UCLA Center for Prehospital Care

Baxter Larmon, PhD, MICP, Director Emeritus Los Angeles, CA

The critical review, edits and suggestions made by the reviewers were invaluable to the outcome of this project. We thank them for their efforts.

Anne Jensen, BS, EMT-P, CP-C

Special Projects Manager San Diego Fire-Rescue Department

Jen Killion, NRP

Community Resource Paramedic East Pierce Fire & Rescue Bonney Lake, Washington

Michael Osur, MBA

Assistant Director/Chief Health Strategist Riverside University Health System – Public Health Riverside County Department of Public Health

Ambrose Stevens, Paramedic

Operations Manager, American Medical Response Santa Rosa, California

With gratitude, authors -

Megan Corry, EDD EMT-P

Faculty

City College of San Francisco

Art Hsieh, MA NRP

Faculty

Santa Rosa Junior College

Jane Smith, MA, EMT-P

President

California Rescue and Paramedic Association

EDUCATION RESOURCES

RESOURCES MODULE I: FOUNDATIONS OF COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE

Literature

Whitney A. Thurman, Leticia R. Moczygemba, Kyler Tormey, Anthony Hudzik, Lauren Welton-Arndt, Chinyere Okoh. (2021) A scoping review of community paramedicine: evidence and implications for interprofessional practice. Journal of Interprofessional Care 35:2, pages 229-239.

Bryan Y. Choi, Charles Blumberg, Kenneth Williams. Mobile Integrated Health Care and Community Paramedicine: An Emerging Emergency Medical Services Concept, Annals of Emergency Medicine, Volume 67, Issue 3, 2016, Pages 361-366

O'Meara, P., Stirling, C., Ruest, M. et al. Community paramedicine model of care: an observational, ethnographic case study. BMC Health Serv Res 16, 39 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1282-0

Myers LA, Carlson PN, Krantz PW, et al. Development and Implementation of a Community Paramedicine Program in Rural United States. West J Emerg Med. 2020;21(5):1227-1233. Published 2020 Aug 24. doi:10.5811/westjem.2020.7.44571

Guy A. Community paramedicine: a preventive adjunct to primary care. Univ B C Med J. 2014;6(1):17-8.

Bingham B, Kennedy S, Drennan I, Morrison L. Expanding paramedic scope of practice in the community: a systematic review of the literature. Prehosp Emerg Care. 2013;17(3):361–72

Joyce Chan, Lauren E. Griffith, Andrew P. Costa, Matthew S. Leyenaar, Gina Agarwal. (2019) Community paramedicine: A systematic review of program descriptions and training. CJEM 21:6, pages 749-761.

Abbey Gregg, Joshua Tutek, Matthew D. Leatherwood, William Crawford, Richard Friend, Martha Crowther, Robert McKinney. (2019) Systematic Review of Community Paramedicine and EMS Mobile Integrated Health Care Interventions in the United States. Population Health Management 22:3, pages 213-222.

Peter S. Pang, Megan Litzau, Mark Liao, Jennifer Herron, Elizabeth Weinstein, Christopher Weaver, Dan Daniel, Charles Miramonti. (2019) Limited data to support improved outcomes after community paramedicine intervention: A systematic review. The American Journal of Emergency Medicine 37:5, pages 960-964.

De Lew N, Greenberg G, Kinchen K. A layman's guide to the U.S. health care system. Health Care Financ Rev. 1992;14(1):151-169.

Yuan-Han Huang, Linlin Ma, Luke A Sabljak, Zachary A Puhala. (2018) Development of sustainable community paramedicine programmes: a case study in Pennsylvania. Emergency Medicine Journal 35:6, pages 372-378.

Kevin J. Bennett, Matt W. Yuen, Melinda A. Merrell. (2018) Community Paramedicine Applied in a Rural Community. The Journal of Rural Health 34, pages s39-s47.

Melody Glenn, Olivia Zoph, Kim Weidenaar, Leila Barraza, Warren Greco, Kylie Jenkins, Pooja Paode & Jonathan Fisher (2018) State Regulation of Community Paramedicine Programs: A National Analysis, Prehospital Emergency Care, 22:2, 244-251, DOI: 10.1080/10903127.2017.1371260

Staffan B, Swayze D, Zavadsky M. Value and Sustainability: Key metrics for mobile integrated healthcare and community paramedic programs. JEMS. 2017 May;42(5):31-5. PMID: 29227590.

Wilcoxson WJ. Community Paramedicine and Mobile Integrated Health Care: Existing Resources Bringing New Benefits. South Med J. 2016 Mar;109(3):151-3. doi: 10.14423/SMJ.000000000000424. PMID: 26954651.

Misner D. Community paramedicine: part of an integrated healthcare system. Emerg Med Serv. 2005 Apr;34(4):89-90. PMID: 15900876.

Skillen DL, Olson JK, Gilbert JA. Promoting personal safety in community health: four educational strategies. Nurse Educ. 2003 Mar-Apr;28(2):89-94. doi: 10.1097/00006223-200303000-00012. PMID: 12646829.

Community-Based Health Research: Issues and Methods. Prev Chronic Dis. 2003;1(1):A14. Published 2003 Dec 15.

Best Practices

The Rural Health Information Hub, formerly the Rural Assistance Center. https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/topics/community-paramedicine#barriers

Health care in the United States. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Health_care_in_the_United_States

Evaluation of California's Community Paramedicine Pilot Program. Janet M. Coffman, Cynthia Wides, Lisel Blash, Ginachukwu Amah, Igor Geyn, and Matthew Nedzwieckihttps.

https://health force.ucsf.edu/publications/evaluation-california-s-community-paramedicine-pilot-program

Introduction to Community Paramedicine state of Ca EMSA. https://emsa.ca.gov/community_paramedicine/

Grady Health System's (GA) Mobile Integrated Health Program. https://www.jems.com/administration-and-leadership/community-paramedicine-and-mobile-health/grady-health-systems-ga-mobile-integrated-health-program/

CAMTS Unveils Community Paramedic Accreditation Standards. https://www.emsworld.com/press-release/1225326/camts-unveils-community-paramedic-accreditation-standards

How 4 community paramedicine programs are positively impacting healthcare. https://www.firerescue1.com/fire-chief/articles/how-4-community-paramedicine-programs-are-positively-impacting-healthcare-NllyHzweWSbRUhjD/

American Public Health Association. https://www.apha.org/what-is-public-health

IBSC Certification. https://www.ibscertifications.org/roles/community-paramedic

Outreach and Personal Safety.

Community Health Centers: Why Engage in Research and How to Get Started. https://www.aapcho.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/WhyDoResearch.pdf

Keeping Community Paramedics Safe. https://www.emsworld.com/article/1221621/keeping-community-paramedics-safe

California Health Care Foundation CP Programs. https://www.chcf.org/collection/community-paramedicine-in-california/

HERSA: Community Paramedicine Evaluation Tool https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/ruralhealth/pdf/paramedicevaltool.pdf

Existing Community Paramedicine Programs. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK549083/

NFPA: Fire Based Mobile Integrated Healthcare and Community Paramedicine (MIH & CP) – Data and Resources https://nfpa.org/-/media/Files/News-and-Research/Fire-statistics-and-reports/Emergency-responders/RFFireBasedMobileIntegratedHealthcareCommunityParamedicineDataResources.ashx

Videos

CA CP Pilot Program. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dJPqHlqGxGU

City of Arlington, TX CP Program. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RZk2bpluQ8M

Allina Health CP Program. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Uuypdcl07Ac

Community Paramedicine 101: What Every EMS Personnel Needs to Know. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GWbknR0Ouas

Alberta Health; Community paramedics bring care to patients. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TuKghvg8IdU

Washington Township CP: Reaching Our Patients in Their Home, Hendricks Launching Community Paramedicine Program. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OvOenOmyhRo

CALIFORNIA CP PROGRAM; Voices of Community Paramedics — Why They Represent the Future of EMS. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eBDzpYD3m-U

Unity Point Health Care CP Program. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FojD1WI6fhM

Left Behind in California: Comparing Community Paramedicine Policies Across States. https://www.chcf.org/publication/left-behind-california-community-paramedicine-policies/#introduction

RESOURCES MODULE II: CULTURAL HUMILITY, EQUITY, AND SOCIAL JUSTICE WITHIN HEALTHCARE Literature

Prasad SJ, Nair P, Gadhvi K, Barai I, Danish HS, Philip AB. Cultural humility: treating the patient, not the illness. Med Educ Online. 2016;21:30908. Published 2016 Feb 3. doi:10.3402/meo.v21.30908

Foronda C, Baptiste D-L, Reinholdt MM, Ousman K. Cultural Humility: A Concept Analysis. Journal of Transcultural Nursing. 2016;27(3):210-217.

Chang, E. S., Simon, M., & Dong, X. (2012). Integrating cultural humility into health care professional education and training. Advances in health sciences education, 17(2), 269-278.

Danso R. Cultural competence and cultural humility: A critical reflection on key cultural diversity concepts. Journal of Social Work. 2018;18(4):410-430

Hall EL, Rammell K. Racial- and ethnic-sensitive practice: From the practitioners' perspective. Journal of Social Work. 2017;17(6):678-694.

Marcie Fisher-Borne, Jessie Montana Cain & Suzanne L. Martin (2015) From Mastery to Accountability: Cultural Humility as an Alternative to Cultural Competence, Social Work Education, 34:2, 165-181,

Michael Marmot, Jessica J. Allen, "Social Determinants of Health Equity", American Journal of Public Health 104, no. S4 (September 1, 2014): pp. S517-S519.

Navarro V. What We Mean by Social Determinants of Health. International Journal of Health Services. 2009;39(3):423-441. doi:10.2190/HS.39.3.a

Taylor LA, Tan AX, Coyle CE, Ndumele C, Rogan E, Canavan M, et al. (2016) Leveraging the Social Determinants of Health: What Works? PLoS ONE 11(8): e0160217. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0160217

Magnan, S. 2017. Social Determinants of Health 101 for Health Care: Five Plus Five. NAM Perspectives. Discussion Paper, National Academy of Medicine, Washington, DC. https://doi.org/10.31478/201710c

Sadana R, Blas E. What Can Public Health Programs Do to Improve Health Equity? Public Health Reports. 2013;128(6_suppl3):12-20. doi:10.1177/00333549131286S303

Peter, F. (2001). Health Equity and Social Justice. Journal of Applied Philosophy, 18(2), 159-170. Retrieved May 26, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/24354

Le Grand, J. (1987). Equity, health, and health care. Social justice research, 1(3), 257-274.

RaJade M. Berry-James, Brandi Blessett, Rachel Emas, Sean McCandless, Ashley E. Nickels, Kristen Norman-Major & Parisa Vinzant (2021) Stepping up to the plate: Making social equity a priority in public administration's troubled times, Journal of Public Affairs Education, 27:1, 5-15, DOI: 10.1080/15236803.2020.1820289

Vanessa Lopez-Littleton, Brandi Blessett & Julie Burr (2018) Advancing social justice and racial equity in the public sector, Journal of Public Affairs Education, 24:4, 449-468, DOI: 10.1080/15236803.2018.1490546

Liliana M. Garces & Cynthia Gordon da Cruz (2017) A Strategic Racial Equity Framework, Peabody Journal of Education, 92:3, 322-342, DOI: 10.1080/0161956X.2017.1325592

Beauchamp TL. Methods and principles in biomedical ethics. Journal of Medical Ethics 2003;29:269-274.

Tom Beauchamp & James Childress (2019) Principles of Biomedical Ethics: Marking Its Fortieth Anniversary, The American Journal of Bioethics, 19:11, 9-12, DOI: 10.1080/15265161.2019.1665402

Rivenbark, J.G., Ichou, M. Discrimination in healthcare as a barrier to care: experiences of socially disadvantaged populations in France from a nationally representative survey. BMC Public Health 20, 31 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-8124-z

Williams DR, Rucker TD. Understanding and addressing racial disparities in health care. Health Care Financ Rev. 2000;21(4):75-90.

Alliance for Health Reform. Closing the gap: racial and ethnic disparities in healthcare. J Natl Med Assoc. 2004 Apr;96(4):436-40. PMID: 15101663; PMCID: PMC2595005.

van Ryn M, Fu SS. Paved with good intentions: do public health and human service providers contribute to racial/ethnic disparities in health? Am J Public Health. 2003 Feb;93(2):248-55. doi: 10.2105/ajph.93.2.248. PMID: 12554578; PMCID: PMC1447725.

Togioka BM, Duvivier D, Young E. Diversity and Discrimination In Healthcare. [Updated 2021 Mar 21]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK568721/

Vevaina JR, Nora LM, Bone RC. Issues in biomedical ethics. Dis Mon. 1993 Dec;39(12):869-925. PMID: 8243220.

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Health and Medicine Division; Board on Health Sciences Policy; Beachy SH, Wizemann T, Choi K, et al., editors. An Examination of Emerging Bioethical Issues in Biomedical Research: Proceedings of a Workshop. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2020 Jun 19. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK558303/ doi: 10.17226/25778

FitzGerald C, Hurst S. Implicit bias in healthcare professionals: a systematic review. BMC Med Ethics. 2017;18(1):19. Published 2017 Mar 1. doi:10.1186/s12910-017-0179-8

Maina IW, Belton TD, Ginzberg S, Singh A, Johnson TJ. A decade of studying implicit racial/ethnic bias in healthcare providers using the implicit association test. Soc Sci Med. 2018 Feb;199:219-229. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.05.009. Epub 2017 May 4. PMID: 28532892.

Best Practices

Cultural Humility Is Critical to Health Equity. https://www.aafp.org/news/blogs/leadervoices/entry/20190418lv-humility.html

Video; IHI Why Use the Term "Cultural Humility"? http://www.ihi.org/education/IHIOpenSchool/resources/Pages/Activities/Averbeck-CulturalHumility.aspx

Define Bioethics. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bioethics

WHO: Social Determinants of Health. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/206363/B3357.pdf

Standardizing Social Determinants Of Health Assessments. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20190311.823116/full/ Clinical Ethics Consultation Training & Education.

https://hsd.luc.edu/bioethics/ethicsconsultskills/?gclid=CjwKCAjw47eFBhA9EiwAy8kzNE1mulGlvR85TUMj5ecrmWLXbtz-xXtY9JxuSl0dfSnl7gQ54n9ZJRoCqpoQAvDBwE

Principles of Bioethics. https://depts.washington.edu/bhdept/ethics-medicine/bioethics-topics/articles/principles-bioethics

Racism and discrimination in health care: Providers and patients. https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/racism-discrimination-health-care-providers-patients-2017011611015

JAMA Patient-Reported Experiences of Discrimination in the US Health Care System. https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2774166

Racism in healthcare: What you need to know. https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/racism-in-healthcare

Racial discrimination in health care: An "us" problem. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jocn.15449

Equity vs. Equality: What's the Difference?. https://onlinepublichealth.gwu.edu/resources/equity-vs-equality/

Challenges, solutions and future directions in the evaluation of service innovations in health care and public health.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK361257/

Joint Commission: Quick Safety 23: Implicit bias in health care. https://www.jointcommission.org/resources/news-and-multimedia/newsletters/newsletters/quick-safety/quick-safety-issue-23-implicit-bias-in-health-care/implicit-bias-in-health-care/

How implicit bias harms patient care. https://www.medicaleconomics.com/view/how-implicit-bias-harms-patient-care

Videos

TED Talk: Cultural Humility in health care. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OHYWhWcTq9I

Health Disparities in Medicine Based on Race. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=y_RcQrUUQZM

NIH: Cultural Humility. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4uE4PIW2CDk

Social Determinants of Health. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CALj8t8EnD8

Social Determinants of Health. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RIrsZABt-QM

Public Health - Concepts of Health and Its Determinants. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XQkYIpCmTDw

TED Talk: Lack of Diversity in Health Care: A Health Disparity . https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9W_kzItWm28

TED Talk; Healthcare: is it a right or a luxury? . https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jCVmY1iOJQs

Bioethics. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tkaEeGytnAk

TED Talk: Bioethics. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=e-wTjH5M-gc

TED Talk Health Care Inequality. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=56ZKfSNkcJc

TED Talk: Tracking Health Care Inequality. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CBNWaQM2JrE

Social Justice in Health Care. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=roAQHn5rEoQ

Social Justice Isn't Justice. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yBX-9eUtwzU

IHI: How Does Implicit Bias Affect Health Care. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ze7Fff2YKfM

Disparities in Health Care. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=T2mirYemCmo

TED Talk: What Is Bias, and What Can Medical Professionals Do to Address It? https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=E_qERP-Y0Jw

RESOURCES MODULE III: INTERDISCIPLINARY COLLABORATION AND SYSTEMS OF CARE NAVIGATION Literature

Schultz, E.M., Pineda, N., Lonhart, J. et al. A systematic review of the care coordination measurement landscape. BMC Health Serv Res 13, 119 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-119

LEAN HEALTH CARE, NJM. https://catalyst.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/CAT.18.0193

Newton M, Tunn E, Moses I, et al. Clinical navigation for beginners: the clinical utility and safety of the Paramedic Pathfinder. Emergency Medicine Journal 2014;31:e29-e34.

Amanda Boykin, Pharm.D., Danielle Wright, Pharm.D., Lydia Stevens, B.A., CP-C, NREMT, Lauren Gardner, M.S.N., ACNP-BC, RN, CHF-N, Interprofessional care collaboration for patients with heart failure, American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy, Volume 75, Issue 1, 1 January 2018, Pages e45–e49, https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160318

RUEST, M., ASHTON, C., & MILLAR, J. (2017). COMMUNITY HEALTH EVALUATIONS COMPLETED USING PARAMEDIC SERVICE (CHECUPS): DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION OF A NEW COMMUNITY-BASED HEALTH PROGRAM. Journal of Health and Human Services Administration, 40(2), 186-218. Retrieved May 27, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44631859

Swayze D, Jensen AM. Chronic Disease Management for the Community Paramedic. EMS World. 2016 Oct;45(9):17-21.

Dainty, K.N., Seaton, M.B., Drennan, I.R. and Morrison, L.J. (2018), Home Visit-Based Community Paramedicine and Its Potential Role in Improving Patient-Centered Primary Care: A Grounded Theory Study and Framework. Health Serv Res, 53: 3455-3470. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12855

Marie Østergaard Møller & Gitte Sommer Harrits (2013) Constructing at-risk target groups, Critical Policy Studies, 7:2, 155-176, DOI: 10.1080/19460171.2013.799880

Katherine L. Frohlich and Louise Potvin, 2008:Transcending the Known in Public Health Practice American Journal of Public Health 98, 216_221, https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.114777

Donovan, R.J., Egger, G. and Francas, M. (1999), TARPARE: A method for selecting target audiences for public health interventions. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 23: 280-284. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-842X.1999.tb01256.x

Blankenship, Kim M.; Bray, Sarah J.; Merson, Michael H. Structural interventions in public health, AIDS: June 2000 - Volume 14 - Issue - p S11-S2

Patterson, Davis G., et al. "What Is the Potential of Community Paramedicine to Fill Rural Health Care Gaps?" Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, vol. 27 no. 4, 2016, p. 144-158. Project MUSE, doi:10.1353/hpu.2016.0192

Keller, L.O., Strohschein, S., Lia-Hoagberg, B. and Schaffer, M.A. (2004), Population-Based Public Health Interventions: Practice-Based and Evidence-Supported. Part I. Public Health Nursing, 21: 453-468. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0737-1209.2004.21509.x

van Vuuren, J., Thomas, B., Agarwal, G. et al. Reshaping healthcare delivery for elderly patients: the role of community paramedicine; a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res 21, 29 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-06037-0

Whitney A. Thurman, Leticia R. Moczygemba, Kyler Tormey, Anthony Hudzik, Lauren Welton-Arndt, Chinyere Okoh. (2021) A scoping review of community paramedicine: evidence and implications for interprofessional practice. Journal of Interprofessional Care 35:2, pages 229-239.

Walter Tavares, Ian Drennan, Kelly Van Diepen, Michael Abanil, Natalie Kedzierski, Chris Spearen, Norm Barrette, Mathew Mercuri. (2017) Building Capacity in Healthcare by Re-examining Clinical Services in Paramedicine. Prehospital Emergency Care 21:5, pages 652-661.

Martina Heinelt, Ian R. Drennan, Jinbaek Kim, Steven Lucas, Kyle Grant, Chris Spearen, Walter Tavares, Lina Al-Imari, Jane Philpott, Paul Hoogeveen & Laurie J. Morrison (2015) Prehospital Identification of Underlying Coronary Artery Disease by Community Paramedics, Prehospital Emergency Care, 19:4, 548-553, DOI: 10.3109/10903127.2015.1005261

Whitney A. Thurman, Leticia R. Moczygemba, Kyler Tormey, Anthony Hudzik, Lauren Welton-Arndt & Chinyere Okoh (2021) A scoping review of community paramedicine: evidence and implications for interprofessional practice, Journal of Interprofessional Care, 35:2, 229-239, DOI: 10.1080/13561820.2020.1732312

Jan Stjernsward, MD, PhD, FRCP (Edin), Kathleen M. Foley, MD, and Frank D. Ferris, MD. The Public Health Strategy for Palliative Care: Journal of Pain and Symptom Management Vol. 33 No. 5 May 2007

Avati, A., Jung, K., Harman, S. et al. Improving palliative care with deep learning. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 18, 122 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-018-0677-8

Murray S A, Boyd K, Sheikh A, Thomas K, Higginson I J. Developing primary palliative care BMJ 2004; 329 :1056 doi:10.1136/bmj.329.7474.1056

A. Rosa, M. Dissanayake, D. Carter & S. Sibbald (2021) Community paramedicine to support palliative care, Progress in Palliative Care, DOI: 10.1080/09699260.2021.1912690

David Long & Bill Lord (2021) Widening the conversation: Paramedic involvement in interprofessional care, Progress in Palliative Care, 29:2, 57-58, DOI: 10.1080/09699260.2021.1890976

David Long (2019) Paramedic delivery of community-based palliative care: An overlooked resource?, Progress in Palliative Care, 27:6, 289-290, DOI: 10.1080/09699260.2019.1672414

Jason Mills (2020) Ambulance Wish: An opportunity for public health palliative care partnerships with paramedics and other community members, Progress in Palliative Care, 28:1, 17-18, DOI: 10.1080/09699260.2020.1695335

Karen Bullock (2011) The Influence of Culture on End-of-Life Decision Making, Journal of Social Work in End-of-Life & Palliative Care, 7:1, 83-98, DOI: 10.1080/15524256.2011.548048

Paramedics' 'end-of-life' decision making in palliative emergencies. Christoph HR Wiese, Mahmoud Taghavi, Nicole Meyer, Christoph Lassen, and Lassen Graf. Journal of Paramedic Practice 2012 4:7, 413-419

Paramedic Knowledge, Attitudes, and Training in End-of-Life Care. Prehospital and Disaster Medicine, Volume 24, Issue 6, December 2009, pp. 529 – 534. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X00007469

Paramedics and their role in end-of-life care: perceptions and confidence. Andrew Kirk, Philip W Crompton, Katherine Knighting, Jennifer Kirton, and Professor Barbara Jack. Journal of Paramedic Practice 2017 9:2, 71-79

Nancarrow SA, Booth A, Ariss S, Smith T, Enderby P, Roots A. Ten principles of good interdisciplinary team work. Hum Resour Health. 2013;11:19. Published 2013 May 10. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-11-19

Nancarrow SA, Smith T, Ariss S, Enderby PM. Qualitative evaluation of the implementation of the Interdisciplinary Management Tool: a reflective tool to enhance interdisciplinary teamwork using Structured, Facilitated Action Research for Implementation. Health Soc Care Community. 2015 Jul;23(4):437-48. doi: 10.1111/hsc.12173. Epub 2014 Dec 19. PMID: 25522769.

Kevin G. Munjal, Siri Shastry, George T. Loo, Daniel Reid, Corita Grudzen, Manish N. Shah, Hugh H. Chapin, Brandon First, Sasilada Sirirungruang, Erin Alpert, Kevin Chason, Lynne D. Richardson. (2016) Patient Perspectives on EMS Alternate Destination Models. Prehospital Emergency Care 20:6, pages 705-711.

Best Practices

Mason S, Knowles E, Colwell B, Dixon S, Wardrope J, Gorringe R et al. Effectiveness of paramedic practitioners in attending 999 calls from elderly people in the community: cluster randomised controlled trial BMJ 2007; 335:919

Denver Health Uses Lean Methodology to Improve Patient Care. https://www.jems.com/training/denver-health-uses-lean-methodology-impr/

Optimizing emergency services with lean Six Sigma. https://www.iise.org/ISEMagazine/details.aspx?id=43713

Jane H. Brice, Kelly R. Evenson, Julie C. Lellis, Wayne D. Rosamond, Semra A. Aytur, Jennifer B. Christian & Dexter L. Morris (2008) Emergency Medical Services Education, Community Outreach, and Protocols for Stroke and Chest Pain in North Carolina, Prehospital Emergency Care, 12:3, 366-371, DOI: 10.1080/10903120802100100

Graham-Jones, S., Reilly, S. and Gaulton, E. (2004), Tackling the needs of the homeless: a controlled trial of health advocacy. Health & Social Care in the Community, 12: 221-232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2004.00491.x

James R. Langabeer, David Persse, Andrea Yatsco, Meredith M. O'Neal & Tiffany Champagne-Langabeer (2021) A Framework for EMS Outreach for Drug Overdose Survivors: A Case Report of the Houston Emergency Opioid Engagement System, Prehospital Emergency Care, 25:3, 441-448, DOI: 10.1080/10903127.2020.1755755

Systematic Review of Community Paramedicine and EMS Mobile Integrated Health Care Interventions in the United States. https://www.liebertpub.com/doi/abs/10.1089/pop.2018.0114

Agarwal, G., Angeles, R., Pirrie, M. et al. Effectiveness of a community paramedic-led health assessment and education initiative in a seniors' residence building: the Community Health Assessment Program through Emergency Medical Services (CHAP-EMS). BMC Emerg Med 17, 8 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12873-017-0119-4

Amol A. Verma, John Klich, Adam Thurston, Jordan Scantlebury, Alex Kiss, Gayle Seddon, Samir K. Sinha. (2018) Paramedic-Initiated Home Care Referrals and Use of Home Care and Emergency Medical Services. Prehospital Emergency Care 22:3, pages 379-384.

Gina Agarwal, Ricardo Angeles, Melissa Pirrie, Brent McLeod, Francine Marzanek, Jenna Parascandalo & Lehana Thabane Reducing 9-1-1 Emergency Medical Service Calls By Implementing A Community Paramedicine Program For Vulnerable Older Adults In Public Housing In Canada: A Multi-Site Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial, Prehospital Emergency Care, 23:5, 718-729, DOI: 10.1080/10903127.2019.1566421

Evaluation of a community paramedicine health promotion and lifestyle risk assessment program for older adults who live in social housing: a cluster randomized trial https://www.cmaj.ca/content/190/21/E638.short

Alexandra J. E. Carter, Marianne Arab, Cheryl Cameron, Michelle Harrison, Charlotte Pooler, Ian McEwan, Michael Austin, Jennie Helmer, Gurkan Ozel, Jessica Heathcote, Natalie Reardon, Elizabeth Anderson, Megan Carey, Raquel Shaw Moxam & Shelly Crick (2021) A national collaborative to spread and scale paramedics providing palliative care in Canada: Breaking down silos is essential to success, Progress in Palliative Care, 29:2, 59-65, DOI: 10.1080/09699260.2020.1871173

Georgina Murphy-Jones, Diane Laverty & Joanne Stonehouse (2021) Infusing the palliative into paramedicine: Inter-professional collaboration to improve the end of life care response of UK ambulance services, Progress in Palliative Care, 29:2, 66-71, DOI: 10.1080/09699260.2021.1879348

Integrating Home Care, Hospice & EMS Partnerships with MIH-CP programs can help avoid needless hospital visits https://www.emsworld.com/sites/emsworld.com/files/files/base/EMS/whitepaper/2015/07/EMS_World_Roap_M ap to Achieving MIH-CP.pdf#page=23

Cassandra Barnette Donnelly, Karen Andrea Armstrong, Molly M. Perkins, Danielle Moulia, Tammie E. Quest & Arthur H. Yancey (2018) Emergency Medical Services Provider Experiences of Hospice Care, Prehospital Emergency Care, 22:2, 237-243, DOI: 10.1080/10903127.2017.1358781

Amelia Breyre, Michael Taigman, Angelo Salvucci & Karl Sporer (2021) Effect of a Mobile Integrated Hospice Healthcare Program on Emergency Medical Services Transport to the Emergency Department, Prehospital Emergency Care, DOI: 10.1080/10903127.2021.1900474

Patterson, R., Standing, H., Lee, M. et al. Paramedic information needs in end-of-life care: a qualitative interview study exploring access to a shared electronic record as a potential solution. BMC Palliat Care 18, 108 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-019-0498-2

Paramedics providing palliative care at home: A mixed-methods exploration of patient and family satisfaction and paramedic comfort and confidence

https://www.cpc.mednet.ucla.edu/uploads/mih/library/54%20Paramedics%20providing%20palliative%20care%20at%20home.pdf

A strategy to improve end-of-life care offered by an ambulance service. https://www.nursingtimes.net/clinical-archive/end-of-life-and-palliative-care/a-strategy-to-improve-end-of-life-care-offered-by-an-ambulance-service-08-06-2020/

The route to success in end of life care - achieving quality in ambulance serviceshttps://www.england.nhs.uk/improvement-hub/wp-content/uploads/sites/44/2017/11/End-of-Life-Care-Route-to-Success-ambulance-services.pdf

Chronic Disease Management for the Community Paramedic.

https://www.emsworld.com/article/12240314/chronic-disease-management-for-the-community-paramedic

Using Community Paramedicine, Health for Care Coordination at Home.

https://mhealthintelligence.com/features/using-community-paramedicine-mhealth-for-care-coordination-athome

Community Paramedicine: A Simple Approach To Increasing Access To Care, With Tangible Results. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20171027.424417/full/

4 Simple Strategies to Improve Team Communication at Work. https://nlctb.org/tips/improve-team-communication/?gclid=CjwKCAjwzMeFBhBwEiwAzwS8zNsSNC4ZSN3ahawqb_Y_V_xzVHypze2mxa53AtrQHAiqg7nI LM9l1BoCHVIQAvD_BwE

The Thin Book of Appreciative Inquiry (3rd Edition).

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=X4JQAgAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT3&dq=Appreciative+inquiry&ots=Cu5SjuL1K7&sig=j0nHalpFNRKZ7zRxHWU zwbBjBA#v=onepage&q=Appreciative%20inquiry&f=false

Promoting Health Behavior Change Using Appreciative Inquiry: Moving From Deficit Models to Affirmation Models of Care. https://www.nursingcenter.com/journalarticle?Article ID=691996&Journal ID=289834&Issue ID=691977

Wikipedia; Appreciative inquiry (AI). https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Appreciative inquiry

2 barriers limiting impact of community paramedicine. https://www.ems1.com/paramedic-chief/articles/2-barriers-limiting-impact-of-community-paramedicine-hCr3eMgAgrf6fHw4/

Barriers to Establishing Community Paramedicine Programs in Rural Areas. https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/toolkits/community-paramedicine/1/barriers

Best Practices Community Paramedic Programs

EMS WORLD Resources for CP/MIH. https://www.emsworld.com/mih-cp

EMS.1 Resources on CP/MIH Programs. https://www.ems1.com/community-paramedicine/

JEMS Resources for CP/MIH. https://www.jems.com/community-paramedicine-and-mobile-health/

NAEMT Resources for CP/MIH. https://www.naemt.org/initiatives/mih-cp

Dainty, K.N., Seaton, M.B., Drennan, I.R. and Morrison, L.J. (2018), Home Visit-Based Community Paramedicine and Its Potential Role in Improving Patient-Centered Primary Care: A Grounded Theory Study and Framework. Health Serv Res, 53: 3455-3470. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12855

Kevin E. Mackey & Chichen Qiu (2019) Can Mobile Integrated Health Care Paramedics Safely Conduct Medical Clearance of Behavioral Health Patients in a Pilot Project? A Report of the First 1000 Consecutive Encounters, Prehospital Emergency Care, 23:1, 22-31, DOI: 10.1080/10903127.2018.1482390

Is San Francisco's New Mental Health Team Working? https://www.jems.com/administration-and-leadership/community-paramedicine-and-mobile-health/is-san-franciscos-new-mental-health-team-working/

Portland Commissioner Supports Expansion of Street Response Program. https://www.jems.com/administration-and-leadership/community-paramedicine-and-mobile-health/portland-commissioner-supports-expansion-of-street-response-program/

Santa Fe (NM) Launches Alternative Response Unit for Low-Threat 911 Calls.

https://www.jems.com/administration-and-leadership/community-paramedicine-and-mobile-health/santa-fe-nm-launches-alternative-response-unit-for-low-threat-911-calls/

More OH Towns Use Special Teams on Mental Health Calls. https://www.jems.com/news/more-oh-towns-use-special-teams-on-mental-health-calls/

Denver (CO) Successfully Sends Mental Health Professionals to Hundreds of Calls. https://www.jems.com/news/denver-co-successfully-sends-mental-health-professionals-to-hundreds-of-calls/

Using Community Paramedicine, mHealth for Care Coordination at Home.

https://mhealthintelligence.com/features/using-community-paramedicine-mhealth-for-care-coordination-athome

Home Health, hospice and EMS Team up to Tackle the triple aim. https://www.emsworld.com/article/12184006/home-health-hospice-and-ems-team-up-to-tackle-the-triple-aim

EMS in the Era of Health Care Reform. https://www.fitchassoc.com/ems-era-health-care-reform/

Integrating EMS into the Healthcare System - Part 1 of a 3 Part Series. https://www.zolldata.com/blog/integrating-ems-into-the-healthcare-system-part-1-of-a-3-part-series

REMSA Community Health . https://www.remsahealth.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/REMSA_A-Model-for-Better-Community-Health_eFINAL.pdf

Adio, Oluwakemi Aiyedun; Ikuma, Laura; and Wiley, Sonja (2020) "Management of frequent ED users by community paramedics improves patient experiences and reduces EMS utilization," Patient Experience Journal: Vol. 7: Iss. 3, Article 21. DOI: 10.35680/2372-0247.1397

POD CAST: Curbing Opioid Crisis with CP's. https://emsworldpodcasts.podbean.com/e/curbing-the-opioid-crisis-with-community-paramedicine/

Ohio CP in home care. https://www.ems1.com/ems-products/community-paramedicine-software/articles/ohio-rural-community-paramedic-program-brings-ems-providers-nurses-to-patients-homes-TU7BMdgCTet2sAJt/

San Diego CP's and COVID. https://www.ems1.com/ems-products/community-paramedicine-software/articles/how-community-paramedics-are-helping-san-diego-protect-its-homeless-population-from-covid-19-ljcG60D9jmGhtoCZ/

Videos

LEAN Heath Care. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PpeRy6Yf5aE

LEAN Thinking in Healthcare. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y nfdkgJh6I

US Healthcare System Explained. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DublqkOSBBA

The Economics of Healthcare: Crash Course. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cbBKoyjFLUY

Scope of Work, Skills, And Roles of Community Health Workers. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bNgaZuLaDpQ

IHI: Using Community Outreach to Close Health Equity Gaps. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yHb886edafg

NIH: Activate, Collaborate and Educate: Health Outreach and Programming in Your Community. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HBRGFnqyue4

Public Health – Health of Special Populations. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=R_orZHdEYNc

Introduction to Population Health. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0I3D35_cqec

TED Talk: Why understanding chronic illness improves community health. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=y4YJTazkLn4

The BETTER approach to preventing chronic diseases. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ap1FXfy91d4

Palliative Care: YOU Are a BRIDGE. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IDHhg76tMHc

Bruno's Story - MND | Palliative Care. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SM A5q6ucpE

EMS Palliative Care. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UGDNCUjC1Cw

Paramedics Providing Palliative Care at Home. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=A9G348RIGrQ

EMS, Hospice, and Palliative Care, putting a fresh light on a previously dark spot. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zgLpexM27R4

Understanding Hospice Care. https://www.youtube.com/results?search query=Hospice+care+

What to expect at the end of life. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sINShkHNNpw

Dying with Dignity. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=c_XOklotR3s

Promoting Effective Teamwork in Healthcare. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dh60rnIMU7M

What are multidisciplinary teams? https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bENp2Imh0Rw

EMS System Communication: Communicating with Other Health Care Professionals. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3IPVs1zvcGc

Appreciative Inquiry. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QzW22wwh1J4

Research Methods - What is an Appreciative Inquiry? https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q BRMsl6igU

RESOURCES MODULE IV: CLIENT-CENTERED CARE

Literature

Barkley J. Biopsychosocial assessment: why the biopsycho and rarely the social? J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2009;18(4):344-347.

Berthold, T. (Ed.). (2016). Foundations for community health workers. John Wiley & Sons.

Stineman MG, Streim JE. The biopsycho-ecological paradigm: a foundational theory for medicine. PM R. 2010 Nov;2(11):1035-45. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2010.06.013. PMID: 21093839; PMCID: PMC3071421.

Buckner JD, Heimberg RG, Ecker AH, Vinci C. A biopsychosocial model of social anxiety and substance use. Depress Anxiety. 2013 Mar;30(3):276-84. doi: 10.1002/da.22032. Epub 2012 Dec 13. PMID: 23239365.

Papadimitriou G. The "Biopsychosocial Model": 40 years of application in Psychiatry. Psychiatriki. 2017 Apr-Jun;28(2):107-110. Greek, Modern, English. doi: 10.22365/jpsych.2017.282.107. PMID: 28686557.

Widder R. Learning to Use Motivational Interviewing Effectively: Modules. J Contin Educ Nurs. 2017 Jul 1;48(7):312-319. doi: 10.3928/00220124-20170616-08. PMID: 28658499.

Magill M, Apodaca TR, Borsari B, Gaume J, Hoadley A, Gordon REF, Tonigan JS, Moyers T. A meta-analysis of motivational interviewing process: Technical, relational, and conditional process models of change. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2018 Feb;86(2):140-157. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000250. Epub 2017 Dec 21. PMID: 29265832; PMCID: PMC5958907.

Tanner-Smith EE, Grant S. Meta-Analysis of Complex Interventions. Annu Rev Public Health. 2018 Apr 1;39:135-151. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-014112. Epub 2018 Jan 12. PMID: 29328876

Pope RM, Ali SM, Muir CD, Schulte AA. Communicating, consulting, and caring differently. BMJ. 2018 Jul 13;362:k3103. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k3103. PMID: 30006477

Bellamy R. An introduction to patient education: theory and practice. Med Teach. 2004 Jun;26(4):359-65. doi: 10.1080/01421590410001679398. PMID: 15203851.

Kreps GL. Applying Weick's model of organizing to health care and health promotion: highlighting the central role of health communication. Patient Educ Couns. 2009 Mar;74(3):347-55. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.12.002. Epub 2009 Jan 16. PMID: 19150591.

Janssen AL, Macleod RD, Walker ST. Recognition, reflection, and role models: critical elements in education about care in medicine. Palliat Support Care. 2008 Dec;6(4):389-95. doi: 10.1017/S1478951508000618. PMID: 19006594

Duarte-Climents G, Sánchez-Gómez MB, Rodríguez-Gómez JÁ, et al. Impact of the Case Management Model through Community Liaison Nurses. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(11):1894. Published 2019 May 29. doi:10.3390/ijerph16111894

Prince-Paul, M.; DiFranco, E. Upstreaming and Normalizing Advance Care Planning Conversations—A Public Health Approach. Behav. Sci. 2017, 7, 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs7020018

S J Brody and C Masciocchi, 1980: Data for long-term care planning by Health Systems Agencies. American Journal of Public Health 70, 1194_1198, https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.70.11.1194

Thomas R. Frieden, 2004: Asleep at the Switch: Local Public Health and Chronic Disease. American Journal of Public Health 94, 2059 2061, https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.94.12.2059

Narayan MC. Cultural assessment and care planning. Home Healthc Nurse. 2003 Sep;21(9):611-8; quiz 619-20. doi: 10.1097/00004045-200309000-00011. PMID: 14534460.

Ballantyne H. Developing nursing care plans. Nurs Stand. 2016 Feb 24;30(26):51-7; quiz 60. doi: 10.7748/ns.30.26.51.s48. PMID: 26907149

Nwameme AU, Tabong PT, Adongo PB. Implementing Community-based Health Planning and Services in impoverished urban communities: health workers' perspective. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018 Mar 20;18(1):186. doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3005-1. PMID: 29554964; PMCID: PMC5859666.

Paterick TE, Patel N, Tajik AJ, Chandrasekaran K. Improving health outcomes through patient education and partnerships with patients. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent). 2017;30(1):112-113. doi:10.1080/08998280.2017.11929552

Reece SM. Community analysis for health planning: strategies for primary care practitioners. Nurse Pract. 1998 Oct;23(10):46, 49, 53-6 passim. PMID: 9805331.

Israel BA, Schulz AJ, Parker EA, Becker AB. Review of community-based research: assessing partnership approaches to improve public health. Annu Rev Public Health. 1998;19:173-202. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.19.1.173. PMID: 9611617.

Israel BA, Schulz AJ, Parker EA, Becker AB; Community-Campus Partnerships for Health. Community-based participatory research: policy recommendations for promoting a partnership approach in health research. Educ Health (Abingdon). 2001;14(2):182-97. doi: 10.1080/13576280110051055. PMID:

van Herwerden LA, Palermo C, Reidlinger DP. Capacity assessment in public health community interventions: a systematic review. Health Promot Int. 2019 Dec 1;34(6):e84-e93. doi: 10.1093/heapro/day071. PMID: 30212870.

DeCorby-Watson K, Mensah G, Bergeron K, Abdi S, Rempel B, Manson H. Effectiveness of capacity building interventions relevant to public health practice: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2018 Jun 1;18(1):684. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5591-6. PMID: 29859075; PMCID: PMC5984748.

Richard Bellamy (2004) An introduction to patient education: theory and practice, Medical Teacher, 26:4, 359-365, DOI: 10.1080/01421590410001679398

Newberry, C.L., Duntley-Matos, R., Shiery, M. et al. Our Homes Our Health: Humanizing Health Care through Cultural Humility, Transformative Complicity, and Empowerment. ANN BEHAV SCI MED EDUC 20, 23–28 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03355270

Hahn RA, Truman BI. Education Improves Public Health and Promotes Health Equity. International Journal of Health Services. 2015;45(4):657-678. doi:10.1177/0020731415585986

Best Practices

Palacio A, Garay D, Langer B, Taylor J, Wood BA, Tamariz L. Motivational Interviewing Improves Medication Adherence: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med. 2016 Aug;31(8):929-40. doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3685-3. Epub 2016 May 9. PMID: 27160414; PMCID: PMC4945560.

Djonne MA. Development of a core competency program for patient educators. J Nurses Staff Dev. 2007 Jul-Aug;23(4):155-61; quiz 162-3. doi: 10.1097/01.NND.0000281414.19978.f6. PMID: 17666896

Hailemariam M, Fekadu A, Selamu M, Alem A, Medhin G, Giorgis TW, DeSilva M, Breuer E. Developing a mental health care plan in a low resource setting: the theory of change approach. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015 Sep 28;15:429. doi: 10.1186/s12913-015-1097-4. PMID: 26416566; PMCID: PMC4587839.

Renée de Vet, Maurice J. A. van Luijtelaar, Sonja N. Brilleslijper-Kater, Wouter Vanderplasschen, Mariëlle D. Beijersbergen, and Judith R. L. M. Wolf, 2013:

Effectiveness of Case Management for Homeless Persons: A Systematic Review. American Journal of Public Health 103, e13_e26, https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301491

DPHHS: Criteria for biopsychosocial assessment:.

https://dphhs.mt.gov/Portals/85/amdd/documents/MCDC/BiopsychosocialAssessmentCriteria.pdf

Peterson, A. L., Goodie, J. L., & Andrasik, F. (2015). Introduction to biopsychosocial assessment in clinical health psychology. In F. Andrasik, J. L. Goodie, & A. L. Peterson (Eds.), Biopsychosocial assessment in clinical health psychology (p. 3–7). The Guilford Press.

Biopsychosocial Assessment Example. https://socialworkexam.wordpress.com/2011/01/06/24-biopsychosocial-assessment-example/

An Outline for a Biopsychosocial Assessment and Intervention Plan. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/bbm%3A978-1-4614-3470-2%2F1.pdf

 $Motivational\ interviewing.\ https://www.co.ozaukee.wi.us/DocumentCenter/View/8185/Definition-of-Motivation-Interviewing?bidId=$

Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. Enhancing Motivation for Change in Substance Abuse Treatment. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 1999. (Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 35.) Chapter 3—Motivational

Interviewing as a Counseling Style. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK64964/

17 Motivational Interviewing Questions and Skills. https://positivepsychology.com/motivational-interviewing/

Motivational Interviewing Strategies and Techniques: Rationales and Examples. https://www.esrdnetwork.org/sites/default/files/MI_rationale_techniques.pdf

Public health interventions (population-based).

https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/practice/research/phncouncil/docs/PHInterventionsHandout.pdf

CDC: Developing Interventions. https://www.cdc.gov/eis/field-epi-manual/chapters/Interventions.html

Implementation Mapping: Using Intervention Mapping to Develop Implementation Strategies. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00158/full

Referral System Collaboration Between Public Health and Medical Systems: A Population Health Case Report. https://nam.edu/referral-system-collaboration-between-public-health-and-medical-systems-a-population-health-case-report/

CDC: Develop a Care Plan. https://www.cdc.gov/aging/develop-care-plan.html

Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Assuring the Health of the Public in the 21st Century. The Future of the Public's Health in the 21st Century. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2002. 5, The Health Care Delivery System. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK221227/

AHRQ: Integrating Chronic Care and Business Strategies in the Safety Net: A Practice Coaching Manual. https://www.ahrq.gov/ncepcr/care/chronic-manual/index.html

AHRQ: Care Management: Implications for Medical Practice, Health Policy, and Health Services Research. https://www.ahrq.gov/ncepcr/care/coordination/mgmt.html

The 3 Must-Have Qualities of a Care Management System. https://www.healthcatalyst.com/three-must-haves-of-an-effective-care-management-system

WIKIPEDIA; Case management (US healthcare system). https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Case management (US healthcare system)

Case Management at the Intersection of Social Work and Health Care. https://www.socialworktoday.com/archive/011917p20.shtml

AFP Core Educational Guidelines Patient Education. https://www.aafp.org/afp/2000/1001/p1712.html

5 strategies for providing effective patient education. https://www.wolterskluwer.com/en/expert-insights/5-strategies-for-providing-effective-patient-education

Videos

What is the Bio-Psycho-Social Model? https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=R8ljOrYPrcw

Biopsychosocial model. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bf0TZ5OzF5I

Intake and Assessment Role-Play Part 1 - Referral and Presenting Problems. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OPCYGqzf7Us

Motivational interviewing, what is it. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=reTb-x6UOmY

Introduction to Motivational Interviewing. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s3MCJZ7OGRk

Lifting the Burden in Motivational Interviewing. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SsNgZ47o2I4

Motivational interviewing in brief consultations: role-play focusing on engaging. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bTRRNWrwRCo

Referral System / Referral Services - Simplified / Community Health Nursing. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gZxExMGi4Gg

Person Centered Care Planning. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=luNYB9Prnk0

Writing a Nursing Care Plan Under 10 Minutes (nursing care plan tutorial). https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=05K9Y8tPjbg

Counselor: Basic Skills of a Counselor. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lJXSf-cx8V8

How to Do Basic Counseling Skills: Role Play. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OwW8x_0YGLI

How to listen like a therapist: 4 secret skills. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UVN96JhDOmg

Power of Patient Education. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GRzpXYBptJY

RESOURCES MODULE V: COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC HEALTH

Literature

The Triple Aim: Care, Health, And Cost. Donald M. Berwick, Thomas W. Nolan, and John Whittington. Health Affairs 2008 27:3, 759-769

Measuring the "Triple Aim" in Transition Care: A Systematic Review. Megan Prior, Margaret McManus, Patience White and Laurie Davidson. Pediatrics December 2014, 134 (6) e1648-e1661; DOI: https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-1704

Whittington JW, Nolan K, Lewis N, Torres T. Pursuing the Triple Aim: The First 7 Years. *Milbank Q*. 2015;93(2):263-300. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12122

Findley, Sally PhD; Matos, Sergio BS; Hicks, April MSW; Chang, Ji MA; Reich, Douglas MD, MPH Community Health Worker Integration Into the Health Care Team Accomplishes the Triple Aim in a Patient-Centered Medical Home, Journal of Ambulatory Care Management: January/March 2014 - Volume 37 - Issue 1 - p 82-91 doi: 10.1097/JAC.00000000000011

van Roode, T., Pauly, B.M., Marcellus, L. *et al.* Values are not enough: qualitative study identifying critical elements for prioritization of health equity in health systems. *Int J Equity Health* 19, 162 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01276-3

Lyons MS, Lindsell CJ, Ledyard HK, Frame PT, Trott AT. Health Department Collaboration with Emergency Departments as a Model for Public Health Programs among at-Risk Populations. *Public Health Reports*. 2005;120(3):259-265. doi:10.1177/003335490512000307

McNulty M, Smith JD, Villamar J, et al. Implementation Research Methodologies for Achieving Scientific Equity and Health Equity. *Ethn Dis.* 2019;29(Suppl 1):83-92. Published 2019 Feb 21. doi:10.18865/ed.29.S1.83

Achieving Health Equity: Closing The Gaps In Health Care Disparities, Interventions, And Research. Tanjala S. Purnell, Elizabeth A. Calhoun, Sherita H. Golden, Jacqueline R. Halladay, Jessica L. Krok-Schoen, Bradley M. Appelhans, and Lisa A. Cooper. Health Affairs 2016 35:8, 1410-1415

N Pearce, 1996. Traditional epidemiology, modern epidemiology, and public health. American Journal of Public Health 86, 678_683, https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.86.5.678

Talmage, C., Mercado, M., Yoder, G. et al. Critiquing Indicators of Community Strengths in Community Health Needs Assessments. *Int. Journal of Com. WB* (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s42413-020-00106-2

Rabarison KM, Timsina L, Mays GP. Community Health Assessment and Improved Public Health Decision-Making: A Propensity Score Matching Approach. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(12):2526-2533. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302795

Bender, Kaye PhD, RN, FAAN Knowing Your Community: Community Health Assessment as a Powerful Tool, Journal of Public Health Management and Practice: July/August 2017 - Volume 23 - Issue - p S6-S8 doi: 10.1097/PHH.00000000000059

Avchen RN, Kosmos C, LeBlanc TT. Community Preparedness for Public Health Emergencies: Introduction and Contents of the Volume. *Am J Public Health*. 2019;109(S4):S253-S255. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2019.305316

LeBlanc TT, Kosmos C, Avchen RN. Public Health Emergencies: Unpacking Medical Countermeasures Management for Preparedness and Response Introduction and Contents of the Volume. Am J Public Health. 2018 Sep;108(S3):S173-S174. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304718. PMID: 30192667; PMCID: PMC6129657.

Telfair LeBlanc T, Kosmos C, Avchen RN. Collaboration Is Key to Community Preparedness. Am J Public Health. 2019 Sep;109(S4):S252. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2019.305272. PMID: 31505144; PMCID: PMC6737819.

Best Practices

CDC Foundation . https://www.cdcfoundation.org/what-public-health

CDC: Introduction to Public Health. https://www.cdc.gov/training/publichealth101/public-health.html

IHI: Website for Triple aim. http://www.ihi.org/Engage/Initiatives/TripleAim/Pages/default.aspx

Improving Healthcare Outcomes: Keep the Triple Aim in Mind. https://www.healthcatalyst.com/improving-healthcare-outcomes-keep-triple-aim-in-mind

Institute of Medicine (US) Committee for the Study of the Future of Public Health. The Future of Public Health. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 1988. 2, A Vision of Public Health in America: An Attainable Ideal. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK218220/

Solet, David PhD; Ciske, Sandra MN; Gaonkar, Rujuta MPH; Horsley, Kathryn DrPH; McNees, Molly PhD; Nandi, Parijat MPH; Krieger, James W. MD, MPH Effective Community Health Assessments in King County, Washington, Journal of Public Health Management and Practice: January 2009 - Volume 15 - Issue 1 - p 33-40 doi: 10.1097/PHH.0b013e3181903c11

Triple Aim Initiative makes measuring patient satisfaction a key step for accreditation.

https://www.ems1.com/ems-products/ems-data-management/articles/triple-aim-initiative-makes-measuring-patient-satisfaction-a-key-step-for-accreditation-

QIKkkb3Pp8hjBZ8l/#:~:text=TRIPLE%20AIM%20APPROACH,including%20quality%20and%20patient%20satisfaction

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Health and Medicine Division; Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice; Committee on Community-Based Solutions to Promote Health Equity in the United States; Baciu A, Negussie Y, Geller A, et al., editors. Communities in Action: Pathways to Health Equity. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2017 Jan 11. 3, The Root Causes of Health Inequity. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK425845/

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Health and Medicine Division; Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice; Committee on Community-Based Solutions to Promote Health Equity in the United States; Baciu A, Negussie Y, Geller A, et al., editors. Communities in Action: Pathways to Health Equity. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2017 Jan 11. 2, The State of Health Disparities in the United States. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK425844/

CDC. Paving the way to health Equality.

https://www.cdc.gov/minorityhealth/publications/health_equity/index.html

Health Equality, The American Public Health Association. https://www.apha.org/topics-and-issues/health-equity

Community Health Assessment toolkit. https://www.healthycommunities.org/resources/community-health-assessment-toolkit

Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Educating Public Health Professionals for the 21st Century; Gebbie K, Rosenstock L, Hernandez LM, editors. Who Will Keep the Public Healthy? Educating Public Health Professionals for the 21st Century. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2003. 3, The Future of Public Health Education. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK221190

Videos

CDC Lecture: Introduction to Public Health. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-dmJSLNgjxo

IHI: Why Health Care Policy Matters. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tgEwtUmkbEA

What is Public Health? https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t_eWESXTnic

Health Equity Animated: Equity vs. Equality. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tZd4no4gZnc

The Triple Aim and the Social Determinants of Health. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OtYfORsSCTs

An Overview of the IHI Triple Aim. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a QskzKFZnI

Community Health Assessment Process: Six Common Phases. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t_eWESXTnic

Carilion Clinic Community Health Needs Assessment. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CG0gKN4LROY